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Woman found dead by lake shore is a radio documentary by Hugo Lavett about a man in
his sixties, Ingemar, who is accused of murdering his wife Agneta with a ride-on lawn
mower.

Ingemar and Agneta were teenagers when they first met. Forty years later, they live in
the small village of Loftahammar in Smaland, where they moved from Stockholm. They
live an active and social life. In the summer, Agneta has a garage sale in their barn and
Ingemar is the chairman of the Town Committee.

On the evening of the 5th September 2008, Agneta Westerlund goes into the forest to
walk the family’s puppy. At the time, Ingemar is clipping the grass on his lawnmower.

After an hour and a half, Ingemar thinks that Agneta has been gone for a long time. He
starts ringing up friends in the village but she is not visiting any of them. Ingemar then
starts to look for her in the forest.

He finds Agneta at their bathing area lying by the jetty. She is dead.

Her injuries look like nothing the police or medical examiner have ever seen before. She
has injuries to one knee and has suffered a powerful stabbing, rotating force with a large
torque. There is a 12 centimetre wide wound on the side of her back the size of a wheel
and there are two puncture wounds on one of her arms.

The same evening, Ingemar is arrested, suspected of murdering his wife. The emergency
workers state that he has behaved strangely and he has no alibi. The police suspect that
Ingemar has run over Agneta on his lawnmower and dumped her body by the lake.

What follows is a Kafkaesque story in which Ingemar and his daughters fight for the
truth and for vindication.

Just over a year after Agneta’s death, the case is solved. It was not Ingemar who killed
Agneta. It was a rutting moose that gored and kicked Agneta to death.

Despite the case being solved, the news is met with great scepticism in Loftahammar.
Friends and neighbours find it hard to believe the account - something they even say to
Ingemar. One day, a life-size moose made out of metal stands outside Ingemar’s house.
Like a salutation, a sign. It is the last straw for Ingemar, who decides to move from the
country house to Stockholm, where his daughters live, free from police suspicion but
always an offender in the eyes of his former friends.



Ingemar bldddrar bland papper
Han mumlar ndgot ohérbart

INGEMAR
Det har ar nog det forsta brev som jag skrev da jag satt i arresten i Vastervik.

”Alskade barn.

Var kara dlskade mamma?? Vi ar i en fullstandigt overklig och absurd situation. Men vi
maste ga vidare och hjalpa varandra till ett bra liv. Min storsta farhaga ar att polisen tror
att de har hittat forovaren och man inte ger full kraft for att hitta syndaren, den som har
gjort det har. Och da kommer vi in i en tung och langdragen process dar jag ska bevisa
min oskuld. ”

Musik

POLIS
Vi har ju da antraffat en kvinna som ar dod i vattnet uppe vid Loftahammar, nordost om
Loftahammar. Vi har gripit en man, som da ar den déda kvinnans man.

Bandspelare

FORHORSLEDARE

Da ar det forhor pa Vasterviks polisstation. Det ar den 6 september. Och anledningen till
forhoret, Ingemar, det dr som du tidigare delgetts, att du ar skaligen misstankt for mord
da den 5 september, igar alltsa.

INGEMAR

"Vi kommer att ha en jobbig period i borjan, men vi kommer att klara detta tillsammans.
Det ar forst och framst ni som ska ga vidare och ma bra. Och jag kommer att stotta er
med all min kraft. Jag vet inte vad som skrivs i tidningarna och ndgra av mammas
vaninnor behover kontaktas. Klara och Teresa, jag dlskar er dver allt pa jorden.

Kram. Familjen finns kvar. Pappa.
PS.Jag vet inte hur lange jag far sitta har. Senast onsdag ar det haktningsférhandlingar
och da fattas beslut.”

FORHORSLEDARE
Har du dodat henne?

INGEMAR
Nej!

FORHORSLEDARE
Jag maste ju stalla fragorna eftersom du ar pa sannolika skal misstankt for mord.



Ingemar is going through documents
He’s mumbling quietly

INGEMAR
This is probably the first letter [ wrote while [ was in custody in Vastervik.

“My beloved children,

Our dear beloved mum? This is a completely unreal and absurd situation. But we have to
go on and we must help each other to find fulfilment in life. My greatest fear is that the
police believe that they have found the culprit and won'’t set about finding the monster -
the person that did this. Then we would have to face a long, drawn-out process in which
[ would have to prove my innocence...”

Music

POLICEMAN
The body of a woman has been found in the water north east of Loftahammar.
We’ve arrested a man who is the dead woman'’s husband.

Tape recorder

INTERROGATION OFFICER

Interrogation at Vastervik police station, September 6th. The reason for this
interrogation, Ingemar, as you're already aware, is that you are, based on reasonable
grounds suspected of committing murder on September 5th, that is to say, yesterday.

INGEMAR

“... This is going to be difficult in the beginning, but we will pull through it together. It’s
important that you get on with your lives and find fulfilment. I will give you all the
support [ possibly can. I don’t know what they’re writing in the newspapers. Some of
mum’s friends need to be contacted. Klara and Teresa, I love you more than anything on
this earth.

Hugs. The family is still intact. Dad.

PS. 1 don’t know how long they're going to keep me here. The hearing will take place on
Wednesday at the latest, after which a decision will be taken.”

INTERROGATION OFFICER
Did you kill her?

INGEMAR
No!

INTERROGATION OFFICER
You know that I must ask these questions because you are on reasonable grounds
suspected of murder.



INGEMAR
Ja, men pa vilka grunder? Det begriper ju inte jag. Jag har inte mérdat min hustru.

FORHORSLEDARE
Advokat?

ADVOKAT
Jag har inga fragor.

INGEMAR
Och jag har inte gjort henne illa pa nat satt. Och vi var inte arga pa varandra. Och jag har
inte mordat min hustru.

Musik tonar ut,
piano

TERESA

Mamma var ju rolig och otroligt vacker. Alltsa fruktansvart vacker. Om man tittar pa
bilder fran nar hon var yngre, med korpsvart langt har, grona melerade 6gon och
jattefin, stor generds mun och ... Jag fattar inte hur pappa kunde fanga henne. Om jag ska
vara helt arlig. For hon var helt, som ung var hon helt magisk. Och dven som 60-aring.

Fdgelkvitter,
skogssus

BERATTARE

Agneta och Ingemar ar tondringar nar de traffas forsta gangen. 1965 gifter de sig i Paris.
De flyttar till Nacka utanfor Stockholm och far tva dottrar, Teresa och Klara. Varje
sommar aker de till sommarstugan i Loftahammar i Smalands skargard.

INGEMAR
Agneta var en gudabenddad svampplockerska. Hon kunde titta in i naturen och saga: har
finns det kantareller. Och sen gick hon in och plockade dem, och de fanns dar.

BERATTARE

Fran att ha varit sommargaster i manga ar koper de en gard, saljer huset i Nacka och
flyttar till Smaland. Agneta jobbar som kultursamordnare i Vastervik och Ingemar ar
ordférande i Loftahammars intresseforening. De lar kinna manga manniskor i byn. Om
sommarhelgerna har Agneta en loppis i ladugard pa garden. Men redan i april borjar
forberedelserna med att Agneta och Ingemar dammsuger Smalands auktioner.



INGEMAR
Yes, but on what grounds? | don’t understand this. [ have not murdered my wife.

INTERROGATION OFFICER
Lawyer?

LAWYER
[ have no questions.

INGEMAR
[ haven’t done anything to hurt my wife. We weren’t angry at each other and I have not
murdered my wife.

Music fades
Piano

TERESA

Mum was so funny and very beautiful. [ mean she really was very beautiful. If you look at
photos of her when she was younger, her long jet-black hair, green eyes and a beautiful
full mouth... I don’t know how dad managed to catch her to be honest. She was magical
as a young woman, and even as a 60-year old.

Bird song
Forest noises

NARRATOR

Agneta and Ingemar are teenagers when they first meet. They marry in Paris in 1965.
They move to Nacka outside Stockholm and have two daughters, Teresa and Klara. They
spend every summer in their summer cottage in Loftahammar in the Smaland
archipelago.

INGEMAR

Agneta was amazing when it came to finding wild mushrooms. She would look into the
woods and say: “There’s chanterelle in there.” Then she just went in, found them and
picked them.

NARRATOR

They sell their house in Nacka and buy a farm in Loftahammar in Smaland. Agneta works
as a Culture Coordinator in Vastervik. Ingemar is chairman of the Loftahammar Town
Committee. They get to know a lot of people in the locality. On summer weekends
Agneta opens her garage sale, “loppis”, in the barn. The preparation begins in April when
they start combing the auction halls in Smaland for pieces to sell.



INGEMAR

Och jag skulle alltid ha slapvagn och Agneta satt dar inne pad auktionslokalen. Jag gick in
och hon pekade: det dar ska ut, och sa bar jag ut. Nar jag kom in igen hade hon képt nya
grejer, det ska ut. Sa det var mycket skit som jag fick frakta hem pa den dar stora bilen
och slapkarran. Men det var manga som tyckte det var roliga saker dnda.

Fdgelkvitter

BERATTARE

Jag var sjalv dar en gang, sommaren 2007. Min kompis har ett landstélle i Loftahammar
och en eftermiddag dker vi ut pa grusvégen till Mistekarr, som det star pa den gula
avtagsskylten. Det dr en vardag men Agneta dppnar loppisen bara for oss. Jag koper ett
orientaliskt monstrat fat och en orange sjuttiotalslampa. Fem kronor styck. Fran
loppisen stracker sig en allé ner till garden. Ingemar visar oss runt. Han har en rutig
kortarmad skjorta helt uppknappt och magen steker i solen. Haret ar kritvitt. Tre hus
finns pa tomten. Det stora for Agneta och Ingemar och sa har dottrarna varsitt.
Barnbarnen var nere helgen innan och studsmattan star framme i det torra graset. Det
ar ett standigt fix med garden, senaste projektet ar ett par hogtalare upphiangda pa en
vagg - riktade ut mot skogen.

INGEMAR

Och dar hade vi da byggt en altan som lag i ett sddant dar perfekt kvéllsldage. Dels skulle
hon rakna dagskassan, hur den sag ut. Och med ett glas vin, en cigarett, kantareller och
dagskassan. Och visste ju da att klockan sex skulle jag ringa i vallingklockan och sa
spelar jag ungefdr en minut av ett trombonsolo som Nils Landgren hade gjort. Och det
var en sommarkvall da det var helt tyst och vindstilla och man spelade med full styrka
Nisses latar sa var det himmelskt. D4 musiken var slut sa Agneta: "Kom och ta en vinare
du ocksd”. Det var som att det har ljudet gick ratt ut i naturen och ut i skogen.

Trombonsolo
Musik

BERATTARE
Det ar fredagen den 5 september 2008. Morka moln hanger 6ver garden i Mistekarr.

Brus

INGEMAR
Vi sa att vi ater lite senare. Och da hade vi siktet installt pa friidrotten klockan atta.

BERATTARE
Kriminaltekniker Johan Bruun ldser ur sina anteckningar fran kvallen.



INGEMAR

[ had to take the car trailer along and Agneta sat in the auction hall. I went in and she
pointed out to what she had bought: “Take that and that out...” When [ went back in, she
had bought even more stuff for me to carry out. We brought home so much rubbish in
that big car and trailer! But a lot of people liked the stuff.

Birdsong

NARRATOR

[ was there once, in 2007. A friend of mine has a country home in Loftahammar and one
evening, we took a drive along the gravel road to Mistekarr, as it said on the yellow road
sign. Although it's a weekday, Agneta opens the “loppis” [garage sale] just for us. [ buy an
oriental patterned plate and an orange 70’s table lamp - SEK 5 each [EUR 0.50]. An
avenue runs from the barn down to the dwelling house. Ingemar shows us around. He
wears his short-armed chequered shirt open, sunning his tummy. His hair is snow white.
There are three houses on the property - the big one is his and Agneta’s and there’s a
house each for their two daughters. Their grandchildren had been to visit the previous
weekend and there’s a trampoline erected in the dry grass. There’s a lot of work to be
done around the farm. The latest project is a pair of loudspeakers mounted on a wall -
facing the forest.

INGEMAR

We had built a terrace that was perfect for summer evenings. She was counting the
proceeds from the “loppis” - a glass of wine, a cigarette, chanterelle and the “loppis”
money. She knew that at 6 pm [ would ring the farmyard bell and play about one minute
of a Nils Landgren trombone solo. [t was a quiet, calm summer evening and I played
Nisse’s solo at full volume and it was heavenly. When the music ended Agneta said:
“Come and have a glass of wine with me.” It was as if the music became one with nature
and the forest around us.

Trombone solo
Music

NARRATOR
Friday, September 5th, 2008. Dark clouds hang over the farm in Mistekarr.

Noise

INGEMAR
We said that we would eat later. We wanted to catch the Track and Field Championship
on TV at eight o’clock.

NARRATOR
Forensic technician, Johan Bruun, reads his report notes from the evening in question.



JOHAN BRUUN

Vid klockan 18.32 stidnger Agneta av sin dator, vi har gjort undersékningar pa denna pa
kriminaltekniska roteln i Kalmar, och da enligt forhorsuppgifter gar Agneta ut med
deras hund, en valp, Yocke. Och Ingemar haller pa att klippa gras pa sin akgrasklippare.

BERATTARE

Det ar tio grader den dar fredagen och regnet ligger i luften. Agneta har pa sig en rod
jacka, blda jeans och gummistovlar. Ingemar sitter pa grasklipparen och ser inte Agneta
nar hon gar ut i skogen med hundvalpen Yocke.

Brus

FORHORSLEDARE
Ar det Agneta som brukar gi ut med hunden?

INGEMAR
Ja. Och sen Kklippte jag dar till ungefar halv atta, kvart i atta, har ar jag valdigt diffus va.

BERATTARE

Klockan atta borjar friidrotten och Agneta har varit borta i en och en halv timme. Pa
spisen star spagetti och kottfarssas under lock. Ingemar satter sig vid teven och ser
varldsrekordhallaren Usain Bolt springa hundra meter i ett regnigt Bryssel.

TV, referat frdn loppet

JOHAN BRUUN

Klockan 20.20 nar Bolt har sprungit sina 100 meter sa har Ingemar uppgivit att hustrun
inte har kommit tillbaks, han saknar henne, och han boérjar ringa runt. Det har vi da
verifierat via den telefonundersokning vi har gjort.

Bandspelare,

brus

INGEMAR

Och sen tog jag fyrhjulingen och akte ner till sjon. Jag vet inte vad klockan var, hon var
val ndstan tio da tror jag. Och dar sag jag Agneta pa en gang vid bryggan for hon hade en

rod jacka pa sig. Och hon lag dar utstrackt.

Brus tonas ut
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JOHAN BRUUN

Agneta switches off her computer at 18.32. This has been verified by the Forensic
Science Laboratory in Kalmar. According to our report notes, Agneta takes the dog for a
walk, a puppy called Yocke. Ingemar is cutting the grass with his ride-on lawn mower.

NARRATOR

It was 10 degrees Celsius that Friday and there’s rain in the air. Agneta is wearing a red
jacket, blue jeans and rubber boots. Ingemar is mowing the lawn and doesn’t see Agneta
heading into the forest with Yocke.

Noise

INTERROGATION OFFICER
Was it Agneta that usually took the dog out?

INGEMAR
Yes. And I was cutting the grass up to about seven-thirty, quarter to eight... I can’t say for
sure.

NARRATOR

The Track and Field event is due to start at eight and Agneta has been gone for an hour
and a half. There’s spaghetti bolognaise on the cooker ready to eat. Ingemar switches on
the TV and watches Usain Bolt run the 100 metres in a rainy Brussels.

TV commentary from the run

JOHAN BRUUN

At 20.20, when Bolt has run the 100 metres, Agneta has not yet returned, according to
Ingemar. He’s beginning to wonder where she is and starts making phone calls. This
information has been checked and verified.

Tape recorder

Noise

INGEMAR

[ took the quad bike and drove down to the lake. I don’t know what time it was. It must
have been almost ten o’clock. I saw Agneta right away, lying by the jetty, because she

had a red jacket on. And she was lying there outstretched.

Noise fades
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INGEMAR

Da jag hittar Agneta sa sag jag ju att hon hade en ordentlig skada pad ena knaet, det var,
huden var uppflakt och sa. Och den forsta tanken var - jag tror jag sa det till och med
hogt va - men du, det har fixar vi. Alltsa att benet skulle bli bra igen for Agneta var
tapper, hon var ingen gnallis. Utan det hdr ordnar sig. Men sen da jag ser hennes ansikte
och kdnner ju att har ... Agneta finns inte langre. Da blir man helt avstangd fran
omvarlden pa nat satt och man gar omkring i dimma och... jag vet inte riktigt vad jag
gjorde for nanting.

TERESA

Jag hade kommit hem och somnat pa soffan, sa ringde han och sa han bara "Mamma ar
dod”, sa han. "Vad sager du”, sa jag. "Mamma ar dod, hon ar alldeles trasig”. Da sa jag
bara att jag kommer. Och sa korde jag ner dit pa typ en och en halv timme. 30 mil.

JOHAN BRUUN

Nar jag och min kollega Anders kommer till platsen sa har 18 personer redan varit dar.
Ingemar, hans grannar, fyra poliser, tva hundforare, atta man fran raddningstjansten och
en rattslakare.

INGEMAR

Och dar sa kiande jag ju anda att det var lite konstigt for det var sa manga poliser runt
omkring mig, det var sa konstigt. Jag skulle flytta nan kdrra dar sa menade de pa "Lat bli
den dar, for det kan vara nanting”, och da kdnde jag att det kan vara sa att de funderar pa
vad jag ar for nagon. Och da hade det varit ganska nyligen nat fall dar det var ndn nara
anhorig, sa jag kom att tanka pa Leif GW Persson. Det kan ju vara sa att de tror att det
kan vara jag.

TERESA

Det kidndes som att det var lite nedslédckt, det brukar alltid vara ljus som brinner och
mamma brukar alltid komma ut pa trappen nar man kommer men nu var det mer...
stumt allting. Och sa kommer pappa ut men han ser ut att ha dldrats tio ar bara det tog
fran det samtalet tills jag kom. Allt ligger ju precis dar, mammas askkopp star dar, allt ar
exakt som vanligt men det dr inte som vanligt. Och det star mat pa spisen och sad gar det
tva poliser omkring i huset.

INGEMAR
Jag ligger i soffan i teverummet och Teresa, ja vi sitter dar tillsammans och tittar pa
textteve som da talar om att kvinna hittad dod, jag vet inte varfor vi tittar pa det.

TERESA

Pappa far ju hela tiden den har bilden av mamma pa nathinnan som ar valdigt liksom,
for honom valdigt valdigt stark saklart, sa han faller i grat lite nu och da. Och sen var det
ju ocksa den har, pappa var ju valdigt orolig for den har hunden, for Yocke. Sa fick vi
liksom inte ldmna verandan. Liksom std dar och ropa ut i morkret efter den dar hunden.
Och sa ser man hur hela himlen ar upplyst av ljus nere fran sjon dir mamma 1ag for de
hade varit tvungen att satta upp stralkastare och sa dar. Sen till slut somnar ju han pa
soffan.
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INGEMAR

When I found Agneta, [ noticed that she had an injury to her knee. It was... The skin was
broken. My first thought was - I think I actually said it aloud - “Don’t worry, we can sort
this out.” [ was thinking that she would get over it because Agneta was brave. She wasn'’t
one to complain. She was going to be fine. But then I saw her face and I began to realize...
Agneta was gone forever. | just froze completely. | was going around in a daze... |
honestly don’t know what I did.

TERESA

[ had come home and fallen asleep on the couch when he called and said: “Mum is dead.”
[ said: “What did you say?” “Mum is dead. She’s all bruised and broken.” I told him that I
would come right away. I drove down there in about 1% hours - 300 kilometres.

JOHAN BRUUN

When my colleague Anders and I arrived at the scene, 18 other people had been there
before us: Ingemar, his neighbours, four policemen, two dog trackers, eight men from
the emergency services and a medical examiner.

INGEMAR

[ felt at that stage that something strange was going on because there were so many
policemen around me. [ was about to move an old cart and they said: “Leave it, we might
need to take a look at that.” [ began to suspect that they were focusing on me. There had
been a murder case in the media recently involving a close relative of the victim, so |
started thinking about Leif G.W. Persson [Professor and well-known criminologist] and
his theory... It's quite possible that they suspect me.

TERESA

The house was practically in darkness. Normally, all the lights were on and mum would
be standing on the steps... but now there was this... numbness. And then dad came out.
He looked like he had aged 10 years since I spoke with him on the phone. Everything
was the same... mum’s ashtray was where it always is. Everything is normal, yet nothing
is normal. There’s food ready on the cooker and there are two policemen walking
around the house.

INGEMAR

[ was lying on the sofa in the lounge and Teresa, well, we're sitting there together
watching Teletext that says a woman’s body has been found. [ don’t know why we were
watching it.

TERESA

Dad keeps seeing mum lying there, it’s so very real to him. He breaks down crying now
and then. And he was so worried about the dog, Yocke. But we weren’t allowed to leave
the terrace. So we were standing there in the darkness calling out the dog’s name. And
then I saw the sky was lit up from the searchlights down by the lake where mum was
lying. Eventually, he fell asleep on the couch.
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JOHAN BRUUN

Och vi dokumenterade och sdkrade de sparen som fanns. Vi sag till att kroppen
undersoktes tillsammans med rattsldkaren dar vi da tittade utvandigt pa kladerna och sa
vidare. Och sen sdg vi till att den paketerades pa ett bra satt och transporterades upp till
Linkoping for en obduktion. Och vid klockan... precis nar det borjade ljusna, da var vi
klara med rattsldkaren, jag kommer val ihag att da fick vi gora ett litet break, gick upp i
bussen och sldnga i oss en kopp kaffe och ett par mackor som vi da hade tagit med oss
for att vi visste att det skulle bli en lang natt.

BERATTARE

Johan Bruun beddémer att Agneta inte har dott vid sjon utan har fraktats dit. Nar han
aterhamtar sig med en kaffe och macka beslutar forundersokningsledaren att Ingemar
ska anhallas for mord. Raddningspersonalen har uppgett att han har betett sig konstigt,
kommit med motstridiga uppgifter. Och han har inget alibi.

JOHAN BRUUN

Den storsta risk for en kvinna att bli ihjdlslagen ar ju av maken. Och vi har ju en kidnd
professor som ibland brukar uttala sig i teve... det ar mer eller mindre tjdnstefel att inte
titta pa de ndrmaste bitarna. Sa det ar det féorsta man gor, man tittar pd maken, den
narmaste slakten. Kan de ha gjort det har?

TERESA

Och sa tar han bort mig till vinbarsbuskarna dar barnen stdtt och kdkat vinbar for bara
nagon vecka sedan nar vi var dar med mormor. Sa siger han ja som du forstadr s ar din
pappa misstankt for att ha gjort det hdar mot din mamma. Och fér mig var det en helt ny
tanke. Den tanken fanns liksom inte i ... alltsd den var ju inte ens i ... sa pervers sa att
chocken av det blev att jag inte kunde sdga nagonting. Och sa sa dem att du kan ju félja
med in och vicka din pappa, sa var jag med nar de sa det till honom. Att vi maste ta in
dig till stationen for att... men da var ju pappa valdigt... Jag forstar det, sa han. Men mig
har ni. Nu maste ni ta reda pa vad som har hant eller vem som har gjort det har.

INGEMAR

Anda3 reagerar man sadir konstigt mentalt. Jag sa till den hér polisen, vars pappa jag
kiande, och vi skulle ha ett mota dagen darp3, kan du saga till din pappa att jag kommer
inte pd motet imorgon. Och sen det har som kdnns sd valdigt underligt pa nagot satt.
Man tog av mig ringen. Jag fick inte ha ringen kvar. Jag kommer ihag jag tinkte, men jag
ju fortfarande gift, vad ska ni med ringen till. Jag sa nog inget utan de gjorde vad de ville.

Musik
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JOHAN BRUUN

We documented and secured our findings at the scene. The victim’s body was examined
together with a medical examiner. The victim'’s clothes were also examined and the body
was transported to Linképing for an autopsy. We were finished with the medical
examiner just as dawn was breaking. I remember that we took a break at that stage. We
went up to the bus and had a quick cup of coffee and a sandwich we had taken with us
because we knew it was going to be a long night.

NARRATOR

Johan Bruun concludes that Agneta hasn’t died at the scene, she’s been moved there.
Having recuperated with coffee and sandwiches, the public prosecutor orders the arrest
of Ingemar on suspicion of murder. Emergency service personnel note that Ingemar has
been acting strangely; he gives contradictory statements and has no alibi.

JOHAN BRUUN

Statistically, women run a greater risk of being murdered by their husbands. And we
have this well-known professor who usually says this on TV... It would have been a
breach of duty on my part not to take that fact into account. So that'’s the first thing we
do. We turn our attention to the husband, the closest relative. Could they have done it?

TERESA

A policeman brought me over to the berry bushes where the children had been eating
berries just a couple of weeks ago when we came to visit their grandma. He said: “Well,
as you probably understand, your dad is suspected of doing this to your mum.” The
thought had never crossed my mind. There was no way that I could ever...notin a... It
was so absurd that I was too shocked to utter a word. Then they said: “You can
accompany us inside and wake your dad.” [ was there when they told him: “You have to
come down to the station with us because...” And dad was very... He said: “I understand.
You've got me. Now you have to find out what has happened and who did this.”

INGEMAR

Mentally, you just react so strangely. I said to this policeman, whose father I happen to
know: “Tell your father that I can’t make it to the meeting tomorrow.” Then the
strangest thing of all... They took my wedding ring. I wasn’t allowed to keep it on. I
remember thinking: “But I'm still married, why do you need the ring?” [ don’t think I said
anything; they could do what they wanted to do.

Music
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NYHETSUPPLASARE
En d6d kvinna har hittats vid en insj6 i narheten av Loftahammar
nagra mil norr om Vastervik. Polisen misstanker att hon har mordats.

BERATTARE
Pa lordag morgon vaknar Loftahammar till nyheten om den déda kvinnan. Polisen gar
direkt ut med att det &r maken som ar misstankt.

POLIS
Vi har gripit en man som da dr den déda kvinnans man.

JOURNALIST
Ar ni siker pa att kvinnan har blivit mérdad?

POLIS
Det ar det utgangslage och den arbetsinriktning vi har just nu.

BERATTARE
Lokaltidningen Vasterviks-Tidningen skriver redan pa morgonen att kvinnan ska ha
skurits. Loftahammar ar i chock.

KVINNA

Ja man gar i ett morker, man kan inte komma tillbaka till vardagen. Eftersom jag jobbar
har i affiren marker jag det 4ven pa kunderna att det ar en valdig sorg som man inte kan
forsta riktigt heller. Och manga kanner ju igen kvinnan ifrdga. En underbar kvinna som
vi liksom har férlorat.

BERATTARE

Dagen efter Agnetas dod vaknar Ingemar pa polisstationen i Vastervik. Klockan ett halls
det forsta forhoret. Pa ett litet bord mellan forhorsledaren och Ingemar ligger kartor och
fotografier 6ver garden och sjon. Ingemar vill inte ha ndgon advokat.

Bandspelare,
brus

FORHORSLEDARE

Kan vi gora sa att du berattar sd mycket du kan om gardagen. Helst gdrna fran nar ni...
ndr ni steg upp och... era sysslor under dagen och sen ... tills vi kommer fram da till... till...
till kvallen och sa fortsatter vi dar sen...

INGEMAR
Vi steg upp ganska tidigt. Kanske vid... sju-tiden... eller nanting sant dar...

BERATTARE

Medan férhoret pagar genomsoker polisen garden. Alla redskap, fordon och verktyg. De
letar efter ett mordvapen.
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NEWSREADER
The body of a woman has been found by a lake near Loftahammar, about 50 km north of
Vastervik. The police believe that she was murdered.

NARRATOR
The people of Loftahammar hear the news on Saturday morning. The police release a
statement saying that the dead women'’s husband is suspected of murdering her.

POLICEMAN
We've arrested a man who is the dead woman’s husband.

JOURNALIST
Are you sure that the woman was murdered?

POLICEMAN
It's a starting-point and on which we are focusing on at the moment.

NARRATOR
The local newspaper, Vasterviks-Tidningen writes that the woman had been stabbed.
Loftahammar is in shock.

WOMAN

It's like going around in the dark and it’s difficult to concentrate on anything. Since I
work in the local shop, I notice how affected the customers are. There’s an air of sadness
everywhere. The woman is well-known in the area - a wonderful woman that we’ve now
lost.

NARRATOR

The day after Agneta’s death, Ingemar wakes up in the police station. The first
interrogation is held at 13.00. On a little table between Ingemar and the interrogation
officer are maps and photos of the farm and lake. Ingemar doesn’t want a lawyer.

Tape recorder
Noise

INTERROGATION OFFICER

[ would like you to tell me as much as you can about yesterday. If possible, from the time
you... when you got up in the morning, your chores during the day, up to the time of
the... the evening, and we’ll take it from there.

INGEMAR
We got up quite early. 7 o’clock or thereabouts.

NARRATOR

While the interrogation is in progress, the police are conducting a search of Ingemar’s
property - vehicles, equipment and tools are being examined. They’re looking for a
murder weapon.
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JOHAN BRUUN

Valdet var sadant att det ar ett kraftigt, huggande, roterande vald med stort vridmoment
som varken jag som kriminaltekniker eller rattslakaren hade sett tidigare. Pa ryggsidan
sa finns det en tolv centimeter bred blédning som har ungefar storleken av ett hjul och
den har skadan ar da vanlig pa personer som da har blivit 6verkorda och blivit dodade
av den har... av ett fordon da. Vilket gjorde att vi fick hypotesen att det kunde rora sig
om en grasklippare med det roterande verktyget.

Musik

BERATTARE

Uppdraget att undersoka grasklipparen gar till tva poliser fran Vastervik. De tilldelas
preparatet BlueStar som ska ge utslag for blod. De sprayar den farglosa vatskan pa
bladen under grasklipparen och det lyser omedelbart upp i ett intensivt blaviolett sken.
Reaktionen for blod. Samma resultat far de vid en marschallhallare pa grasmattan och
pa Ingemars fyrhjuling. Till det andra forhoret har Ingemar en advokat.

Brus

FORHORSLEDARE
... och da upprepar jag den misstanke som jag tidigare delgett dig.

INGEMAR
Forlat?

FORHORSLEDARE
D3 upprepar jag den misstanke som du delgivits i tidigare forhor.

INGEMAR
Ja.

FORHORSLEDARE
Du ar alltsd pa sannolika skal misstankt for mord den femte september 2008 i
Loftahammar i och med att du med vald berovat din hustru, Agneta Westlund, livet.

INGEMAR
Véa-vanta... Sannolika har vi inte pratat om.

FORHORSLEDARE
Nej, men nu pratar jag om sannolika skal. Misstankarna har starkts.

Musik
BERATTARE

Grasklipparen ar det som polisen riktar sig in pa. Att Ingemar ska ha kort 6ver Agneta pa
garden och fraktat kroppen till sjon.
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JOHAN BRUUN

The victim’s injuries indicate the use of considerable violence: a hacking, rotating,
twisting element that neither I as a forensic technician nor the medical examiner have
ever seen before. There’s a 12 cm wide wound on the victim’s back - the approximate
size of a wheel. This type of injury is common in cases where the victim has been run
over or killed by this... by a vehicle, which leads us to the hypothesis that a lawn mower
with a rotary blade system may have caused these injuries.

Music

NARRATOR

Two policemen from Vastervik are given the task of examining the lawn mower. They’re
supplied with a blood visualizing agent, BlueStar. They spray the solution on the lawn
mower blades which immediately indicate the presence of blood. They get a similar
result from a torch stand on the lawn and on Ingemar’s quad bike. Ingemar has a lawyer
present at the next interrogation session.

Noise

INTERROGATION OFFICER
[ will repeat the charge that I've already informed you of.

INGEMAR
Excuse me?

INTERROGATION OFFICER
[ will repeat the charge of which you’ve already been informed at a previous
interrogation.

INGEMAR
Yes.

INTERROGATION OFFICER
You are on probable grounds suspected of murdering your wife, Agneta Westlund, on
September 5th, 2008, in Loftahammar.

INGEMAR
Hang on; no one said anything about “probable grounds”.

INTERROGATION OFFICER
No, but I'm saying probable grounds now. We now have stronger grounds.

Music

NARRATOR

The police are particularly interested in the lawn mower - the possibility that Ingemar
drove over Agneta with the lawn mower on the farm and then moved her body to the
lake shore.
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FORHORSLEDARE

Mycket talar ju for att ndgonting har hant har... och att grasklipparen ar involverad.
Eftersom det finns blod pa den. Eller ndgot som vi i nuldget betraktar som blod. Det ska
goras forstas ytterligare analyser av det har...

INGEMAR

Ja... Ingen aning... Jag forstar ingenting... Jag forstar ingenting! Alltsa det ena ar da att min
hustru som du sager... kanske ar mérdad... Och inte som jag i en féorhoppning trodde att
hon... om man far kalla det sa va... att det var en olycka. Och nu kommer du och pastar att
det ar inte pa det sattet utan det ar ett mord. Och det &r du som dr mordaren. Pa
sannolika skal. Det ar ju... det dr ju... det ar ju liksom... Det-det- det-det... Det dr inte
verklighet det har alltsa. Det ar inte verklighet.

JOHAN BRUUN

Har kan val tilldggas att obduktionsresultatet gav resultatet att hon hade sa kallad failed
chest. Det vill sdga brostkorgen hade blivit hoptryckt pa ett sddant satt sd att hon inte
kunnat andas. Man kan jamféra med Jesus Kristus som korsfastet i det har fallet. Nar
man da blir korsfast s orkar man tillslut inte andas, man orkar inte lyfta upp sin egen
kropp utan man dor. Det dr ungefar samma bitar.

Musik
Prassel med papper

INGEMAR

"Jag far ta mig fangelsets klader i olika storlekar. Till strumpor han man lagt fram tva
toppluvor, de hade inga strumpor. Jag behandlas som en hund och nar jag reser mig och
stracker pa mig kommer i husseton da Sitt ner! Jag fors till min cell som ar helt naken.
Lampor tands utifran. Ingen klocka, inget vatten, inget fonster. Ett lakan direkt pa plast.
En konstig vit filt och en tunn kudde. Maten bestar av Dafgards djupfrysta produkter, ett
eller tva alternativ. Kaffet slut, mjolken saknades, rakhyvel gick inte att anvanda, skar
upp flera sar. Toalettpapper saknades. Byte av skedde en gang till underlig storlek, 'vi
har inga andra, vi har inte fatt nagra.”

BERATTARE

Efter tre dagar transporteras Ingemar till Kalmar. Aklagaren vill ha honom hiktad pa
sannolika skdl men tingsratten nojer sig med skaligen misstankt, den lagre graden. Den
substans som hittats under grasklipparen ar under analys och provsvaret ska komma
foljande vecka. Teresa och lillasystern Klara bor hos nagra vanner till familjen inne i
Loftahammar.
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INTERROGATION OFFICER

There are indications that something has happened here - that the lawn mower is
involved. Blood has been found on the lawn mower... or something that we at this
moment in time assume to be blood. Of course a further analysis will be carried out.

INGEMAR

Yes...No idea... | don’t understand it. I don’t understand it! On the one hand, you're
saying that my wife... has probably been murdered. All along, I was hoping... if you can
call it that... that her death was accidental. And now you’re saying that is not the case
and that she was murdered. And you're saying that [ murdered her. On probable
grounds. It's, it’s, it’s, it’s... This isn’t happening. This just isn’t happening.

JOHAN BRUUN

Furthermore, the autopsy results revealed us she suffered from “failed chest”. That is to
say, her chest was crushed in a way that she couldn’t breathe. One could compare the
injury to the crucifixion of Jesus Christ. In the case of a crucifixion, you can’t breathe in
the end. You haven’t the strength to lift your body up and so you die. This is rather
similar.

Music
Going through paperwork, letter

INGEMAR

“I had wear prison clothes of various sizes. There were no socks available so they gave
me knit caps for my feet. | was treated like a dog. When I stood up to stretch my body,
they spoke to me like one would to a dog: ‘Sit down!” I was taken to a cell that was
completely bare. The light-switch was outside the cell. No clock, no water, no window. A
sheet on a mattress covered in plastic. A strange looking white blanket and a thin pillow.
The food consisted of Dafgard’s food frozen products - one or two alternatives. There
was no coffee, no milk. The razor was useless - [ kept cutting myself. No toilet paper. I

rn

was given one change of clothes in sizes that didn’t fit - ‘that’s all we have to give you'.

NARRATOR

After three days, Ingemar is moved to Kalmar. The public prosecutor requests that he be
held on “probable grounds” but the District Court is satisfied with “reasonable grounds”,
the lower scale of culpability. The substance found on the lawn mower is sent to the lab
and the results are expected the following week. His daughters, Teresa and Klara, stay
with family friends in Loftahammar.
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TERESA

Sen kom ju Yocke. Han hade kommit travandes 6ver dngen ensam. Vad kan det ha varit,
24 timmar senare. En polis med valdigt trevlig uppsyn faktiskt som kom med honom. Vi
blev jatteglada for det. Det kindes som ett litet hopp pa ndgot satt nar han kom och jag
visste hur glad pappa skulle bli.

BERATTARE
Och sa kommer analyssvaret fran grasklipparen. Det ar inte blod fran en manniska, utan
fran ett litet djur eller rost. I brist pa bevis slapps Ingemar.

INGEMAR

Da jag slattes ur hiaktet en mandagskvall. Da jag stod dar med urladdad mobiltelefon,
kriminalvardstyrelsens grona byxor, busstidtabell for att dka till Vastervik och sen ta
mig hem - sd skildes jag ifran polisen och ifran dklagaren. Och sa blir det helt tyst.

Musik

BERATTARE
Ingemar ar pa fri fot. Men ar fortfarande mordmisstankt.

JOHAN BRUUN

Vi hade en skada hiar som gjorde oss mycket konfunderade. Det var pa hoger 6verarms
utsida dar vi hade tva stycken hal kan man sdga som satt med 6.5 cm mellanrum. Och
den har skadan fanns da i 6verarmen men varken i jacken eller skjortan hon hade pa sig.
Och det har var ju ganska ... ehh ... hade vi lite fragetecken om.

BERATTARE

Polisen jobbar vidare med utredningen. 250 spar har samlats in fran platsen vid sjon och
fran garden. Klader, harstran pa Agnetas kropp, maskiner, blodstank pa en bat.
Kriminaltekniker Johan Bruun satter upp en lista 6ver i vilken ordning proverna ska
skickas till SKL, Statens Kriminaltekniska Laboratorium.

JOHAN BRUUN

Vi har toppsningar fran olika stallen, vi har toppsat prylar fram och tillbak. Det har ar ett
av de storsta fall SKL har.
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TERESA

Then Yocke came back. He came running across the meadow alone. Twenty-four hours
had passed at that stage. A very kind policeman came with him. We were so happy about
that. This gave us some hope in a way, when Yocke returned, and I knew how happy dad
would be about that.

NARRATOR
And then the lab results on the lawn mower came back. It's not human blood but blood
possibly from a little animal or rust. Ingemar is released due to lack of evidence.

INGEMAR

[ was released from custody on a Monday evening. There I stood, with a phone out of
battery, wearing green prison trousers and a bus timetable in my hand so that I could
get to Vastervik and find my way home from there. That’s how I parted from the police
and the public prosecutor. All that followed was silence.

Music

NARRATOR
Ingemar is released but he is still a suspect.

JOHAN BRUUN

There was a particular injury that we found rather puzzling. There were two holes, 6.5
cm apart on the outside of the upper right arm. These injuries were on her arm but not
on the shirt or jacket that she was wearing. That was quite... we had some question
marks on that.

NARRATOR

The police continue working on the investigation. 250 samples of evidence are collected
from the crime scene by the lake and from the farm. Items of clothing, hair samples from
Agneta’s body, machinery, traces of blood from a boat. Forensic technician, Johan Bruun,
makes a list of the order in which the samples are to be sent to the State Forensic
Laboratory.

JOHAN BRUUN

We took swabs from various places and items here and there. This is one of the biggest
cases the State Forensic Laboratory has ever had.
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BERATTARE

Polisen héller 6éver tvahundra forhor. De pratar med Ingemars grannar, ordféranden pa
golfklubben, personer som besokt Agnetas loppis, kassorskan pa bensinmacken. Polisen
soker motiv. Ekonomi, otrohet, svartsjuka. Men ingen pratar med Ingemar. Han har
flyttat in i gdstrummet hos sin dotter Teresa i Nacka. Vad han inte vet ar att hans mobil
ar avlyssnad. Han skriver brev pa brev till dklagaren och polisen.

INGEMAR

Jag kallade de en massa saker, att de hade bara skapat svarta moln och att de gick
omkring som nan konstig organisation de man inte talade med varandra. Att man gick in
genom portarna i de har husen som var helt i avsaknad av humanism eller empati,
pratar man med varandra 6verhuvudtaget? De maste ju ha kdnt hur desperat jag och
mina barn var. S har kan det ju inte vara. Sdg da hurdant det ar, att vi kan inte avskriva
det har arendet forran vi har gjort det och det, men prata med oss. Det var helt dott,
inget svar, ingen reaktion, ingenting. Det var som en gra vagg. Det var som att springa
ratt in i dimman.

TERESA

Om det hade varit sa att mamma hade varit skadad eller sjuk och gatt bort pa sjukhus, da
finns det ju ett helt skyddsnat med manniskor som star bredvid och man moter. Men jag
har aldrig haft nan nara slakting som har gatt bort. Jag ar ganska langt ifran déden, som
de flesta av oss ar. Har var det ju helt bara fritt fall. Plus att min pappa star anklagad,
plus att jag inte vet vad som har hant min mamma, jag vet inte ens hur hon har détt.

BERATTARE
Det har gatt tvd manader sedan Agneta dog. Men trots analyssvaret sldpper inte
kriminalteknikerna grasklipparen som méjligt mordvapen.

JOHAN BRUUN

Vi gjorde dven ett experiment dar vi da hade en halv slaktad gris som vi klddde i jeanstyg
och korde upp pa denna med grasklipparen och det héar visar sig att det ar den har
skadebilden vi far av de knivarna, vilket inte skiljer sig speciellt mycket fran den
skadebild vi har. Sa det sdnkte ju inte graden att grasklipparen kunde vara inblandad.

BERATTARE
[ mitten av december kallas Ingemar tillbaka till gdrden i Mistekarr. Polisen gor en
rekonstruktion av septemberkvallen och han far visa var han klippte graset.
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NARRATOR

The police conduct over two hundred interviews. They talk to Ingemar’s neighbours, the
chairman of the golf club, people who frequented Agneta’s “loppis” and the petrol station
cashier. The police are looking for a motive — was the motive financial, infidelity or
jealousy? No one speaks to Ingemar. He moves into the guest room in Teresa’s house in
Nacka. He has no idea that his mobile phone is being tapped. He writes letter after letter
to the public prosecutor and the police.

INGEMAR

[ called them a whole lot of things... that they had painted everything black and were
behaving like some weird organization where people didn’t talk. They walked through
the doors of that building and were completely devoid of human emotion or empathy.
Do they know what it is to talk to people? They must have known how desperate the
situation was for me and my children. This just wasn’t good enough. I understood that
there was a routine that they had to follow, but why not talk to us?

It was completely dead - no answers, no reaction, nothing. It was like a grey wall. It was
like running straight into a dense fog.

TERESA

If mum had been injured or sick or died in hospital, there would have been a network of
people there for us. | had never lost a close relative before. Death is so far away for me,
like it is for the most of us. This was just a free fall. On top of all that, my dad is a suspect
and I don’t know what has happened to my mum. I don’t even know how she died.

NARRATOR
Two months have passed since Agneta died. Despite the lab results, the police continue
to focus on the lawn mower as a possible murder weapon.

JOHAN BRUUN

We also carried out an experiment in which we drove the lawn mower over half of a
slaughtered pig that we had wrapped in denim fabric. The mower blades gave us a result
similar to the injuries. There was still a possibility that the lawn mower had been used.

NARRATOR

In mid December, Ingemar is requested by the police to come to the farm in Mistekarr
for a reconstruction of the events on that September evening. Ingemar is asked to show
them where he cut the grass.
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Mikrofonprassel
Andetag

FORHORSLEDARE
Behover den har klippas? Vagen dar vi gar nu?

INGEMAR
Den har klipper jag alltid.

FORHORSLEDARE
Jaha. Och alltid, det betyder att du gjorde det just vid det har tillfallet?

INGEMAR
Ja.

Mikrofonprassel

Det har ar ett paradis om ni inte har forstatt det. Om jag far lamna protokollet en liten
stund...

FORHORSLEDARE
Det kommer med i protokollet, men du far girna ta det dnda.

INGEMAR

Jo, vi har sa att varje lordag klockan sex sa ringer jag i vallingklockan. Och det har
uppskattar grannarna jattemycket. Sen har jag som ni har sett... En jatteanlaggning med
grammofon eller med... Dar jag spelar fyrtiofem sekunder... med Nisse Landgrens...
trombonsolo... och det ar himmelskt vackert... Darfor vill jag att det ska vara snyggt har.

FORHORSLEDARE
Mm.

INGEMAR
Ursakta...

FORHORSLEDARE
N3, det ar inget du behéver be om ursakt for.

INGEMAR
Ni kan fa hora om ni vill. Nisse...

FORHORSLEDARE
En detalj tinkte jag pa. Har du horselskydd nar du klipper gras?

INGEMAR
Nej, jag hade inte det. Jag har det ibland, men inte da.
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Microphone rumbling
Breathing

INTERROGATION OFFICER
Do you usually cut the grass where we’re walking right now?

INGEMAR
[ always cut the grass here.

INTERROGATION OFFICER
[ see. Always, that means you cut the grass on that particular day too?

INGEMAR
Yes.

Microphone rumbling

In case you weren'’t aware, this place is a paradise. If we could ignore the protocol for a
moment...

INTERROGATION OFFICER
We can’t do that, but you're free to say whatever you want to say.

INGEMAR

Well, we have this tradition every Saturday when I ring the farmyard bell. The
neighbours really appreciate this. As you can see... I've got quite a set-up here with
loudspeakers and a gramophone... I always put on a 45 second trombone solo by Nisse
Landgren... and this place becomes magical... That's why [ want to keep it nice here.

INTERROGATION OFFICER
Mm.

INGEMAR
Excuse me...

INTERROGATION OFFICER
There’s nothing to excuse.

INGEMAR
[ can play it for you if you like. Nisse...

INTERROGATION OFFICER
There was just one thing... Do you wear earmuffs when you’re cutting the grass?

INGEMAR
No, [ wasn’t wearing them. [ wear them sometimes, but not on that particular day.
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Musik

BERATTARE

Ingemar firar julen i Nacka med sina dottrar och barnbarn. Det blir nyar. Veckorna gar.
Forutom rekonstruktionen har det har varit tyst fran polis och dklagare i flera manader.
Men sa den 28 januari 2009 far han ett samtal fran Vasterviks-Tidningen.

INGEMAR

Sd ringer det en journalist. "Du ar avford fran utredningen.” Vada? sager jag till honom.
"Ja du ar avford ifran utredningen.” Ja vad innebar det? "Du ar inte misstankt langre”.
Jaha, sa jag. Och sa funderade jag en liten stund och sen fragade jag honom. Hur vet du
det? ”"Jo det har gatt ut en pressrelease, vi har fatt information om det.” Det har ar ju...
liksom sd ofattbart och sa konstigt att en journalist ringer och sager Ingemar, du ar
avford. Och inte hort nat pa sa lang tid. Spontant sa sa jag: Detta later som musik.

Piano

BERATTARE

Under ndstan sex manader av intensivt polisarbete hittar polisen inget som binder
Ingemar till Agnetas dod. Rikskrim gor en gairningsmannaprofil. Polisen kommer fram
till att Ingemar och Agneta var ett normalt par med god relation till varandra. De hade
ett valutvecklat natverk och goda grannar.

INGEMAR

Man kan liksom inte sudda bort sd manga ar och man praglas av det. Vi har lart av
varandra och praglat varandra. Det finns ju sdkert bra manniskor éverallt men vi hade
hittat var stil och vart satt att leva, som vi tyckte var... ja, det var var vardering av livet.
Piano

Bil

Vig
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Music

NARRATOR

Ingemar celebrates Christmas in Nacka, Stockholm, with his daughters and
grandchildren. The New Year arrives. The weeks pass. Apart from the reconstruction,
Ingemar hears nothing from the police or from the public prosecutor. But then on
January 28th, he receives a call from a newspaper journalist at Vasterviks-Tidningen.

INGEMAR

So I got a call from a journalist: “The charges against you have been drooped.” [ said:
“What?” “The charges have been dropped.” “What does that mean?” “It means that
you're no longer a suspect.” “Well”, [ said. Then I had a little think and I asked him how
he knew this. “There’s been a press release and we've been informed.” This was just...
unbelievable and so strange that a journalist was calling me to say that I'm no longer a
suspect. When I had heard nothing for so long. My spontaneous reaction was: “This is
music to my ears.”

Piano

NARRATOR

After six months of intensive investigation, the police find nothing to link Ingemar to
Agneta’s death. The National Bureau of Investigation compiled a suspect profile: The
police conclude that Ingemar and Agneta were a normal couple and had a good
relationship. They had a wide network and good neighbours.

INGEMAR
You cannot wipe out all those years we shared together. We learned from each other and
have influenced one another. I'm sure there are good people everywhere, but we had

discovered how we wanted to live; a life that felt... Well, it had to do with our values in
life.

Piano
Car

Road
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BERATTARE

Framat varkanten flyttar Ingemar ner till gdrden igen. Fri fran polisens misstankar. Men
vem var det som moérdade Agneta? Jag kor ner till Loftahammar. Det dr en tyst och stilla
varkvall nar jag kommer fram. Pizzerian och marinan ar stangd. Om nagra veckor ar det
sommar och turisterna valler in.

Skogsljud och fotsteg

Jag stéller bilen och gar upp till garden i Mistekarr. Solen star 1agt 6ver skogen. Hundra
meter fran garden bor Toivo och Gunilla.

HUGO
Hej hej!

TOIVO
Vi undrade vad det var som pagick

HUGO
Ja det forstar jag. Jag ska forklara mig.

BERATTAREN
Vi satter oss pa deras altan och ser ut 6ver skogen och stigen som gar ner till sjon.

TOIVO

Vi sdgade ju ner lite trad har for att vi skulle ha lite sikt. Forut var det mycket mer trad
har. Och vi var ju ... jag menade vi kollade allt hdr och misstinksamma. Det kommer folk
har och kor med bilar och det blev val att de, ja, nyfikna, for slogs ju upp ratt sa stort da.

GUNILLA
Mm.

TOIVO
Det gjorde det ju.

HUGO
Hur gick snacket inne i samhallet?

TOIVO
Det fanns val sdkert 50 olika versioner om vad som hade hédnt. Fast de flesta visste inte
nanting egentligen om det mer eller mindre utan de hade hort fran en eller annan.

GUNILLA
Nej manniskor var ju radda dar, torde sig inte ut och ga och du vet s3, ingenting. Laste in
sig i princip. For det fanns en mordare 16s. Det var ju sa snacket gick.

TOIVO
Ja det var det. Ja.
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NARRATOR

Ingemar moves back to the farm in early spring. He’s no longer a suspect. But who
murdered Agneta? I drive down to Loftahammar. I arrive on a quiet and peaceful spring
evening. The pizzeria and marina are closed. In a few weeks time, the summer tourists
will be flocking to the area.

Forest noises and footsteps

[ park the car and walk up to the farm in Mistekarr. The sun is low over the forest. Toivo
and Gunilla live 100 meter from the farm.

HUGO
Hi there!

TOIVO
We were wondering what was going on...

HUGO
[ understand. I can explain.

NARRATOR
We sit outside on the terrace in view of the forest and the path that leads down to the
lake.

TOIVO

We took down a few trees here for a better view. There were a lot of trees here before.
We were... | mean we kept an eye out for anything suspicious around here. People kept
driving up here out of curiosity because it made the headlines.

GUNILLA
Mm.

TOIVO
Yes, indeed it did.

HUGO
What were the local people saying about all of this?

TOIVO
There were at least 50 different versions of what happened. Most people didn’t know
anything - it was second-hand information.

GUNILLA
People were scared. They were afraid to go out. They stayed in and locked their doors.
There was “a murderer” on the loose. That’s what people were saying.

TOIVO
Yes, that’s right.
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BERATTARE

[ polisens forhor laser jag bybornas historier. Agneta ska ha fatt stryk av Ingemar. Hon
var folkskygg och ska ha sagt inte en vinter till i Mistekarr. En person sager: pa nat satt
kdnns Ingemar mer skyldig nar han inte langre dr misstankt. En annan har hort att
Agneta ska ha varit fastkedjad under bryggan och blivit huggen i benet av maken. Om
det inte ar Ingemar som ar mordaren ar det polska battjuvar som Agneta har tagit pa bar
garning. Eller en galen alg. Eller den ryska maffian som ként sig lurade i en fiskeaffar och
skickat over ett gdng rabarkade hantlangare och av misstag dodat fel kvinna.

INGEMAR

Jag blev ju sjalv en sheriff och dkte runt och fragade: Kan du ha sett nanting? Har du hort
nanting som man skulle kunna koppla till det har tror du. Gravde har och dar och var ute
med hunden for att se om hunden kunde pdminna sig ndnting. Men jag var ju desperat i
det laget. Jag var ju fortfarande misstankt, dven fran det att jag blev avford ifran
utredningen for det fanns ju ingen annan losning. Men jag kdnde definitivt pa golfbanan
och i butiken att har tittar de snett pa mig och oj oj oj, nu har han varit nere och kopt en
ny grasklippare och det var val for att han skulle doélja den gamla da. Och da gick ryktet i
byn ocks3, fick jag hora genom mina vanner da att ja han sag dig dar nere pa jarnhandeln
att jag hade kopt en ny grasklippare nu far ni se upp, ungefar. Jag var ju inte
Loftahammarsbo. Jag var en Stockholmare som var intresserad av omradet och
utvecklingen av turism och annat. Men det rackte inte.

BERATTARE
Under vintern och varen 2009 sitter kriminaltekniker Johan Bruun i Kalmar och samlar
in analyssvar. Ett far speciell betydelse.

JOHAN BRUUN

Vi visste att Agneta hade haft med sig lilla valpen Yocke nar de hade varit ute och gatt. Vi
hittade harstran som satt pa lite stéllen, lite avvikande stillen. Band annat ett som vi ser
har pa bilden som sitter da i 6gat. Men vi foresatte ju att det har ar Yockes harstran.

BERATTARE
Men harstrdna pa Agneta ar inte fran hundvalpen. De ar fran ett annat djur.

JOHAN BRUUN
De harstrana kommer fran hjortdjurstyp.

BERATTARE
Vid ytterligare analyser kan djurarten preciseras.

JOHAN BRUUN

Det rorde sig om alghar. Vi borjade fundera i den har hypotesen: kunde det rora sig om
en alg?
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NARRATOR

In the police interrogation report I read the villagers’ versions of what happened.
“Agneta was stabbed by Ingemar.” “She was quite a shy person” and is believed to have
said: “Not another winter in Mistekarr.” One villager said: “In a way, Ingemar feels even
guiltier now when he’s no longer a suspect.” Another person had heard that “Agneta was
chained underneath the jetty and stabbed in the leg by her husband.” If Ingemar didn’t
murder her, then perhaps it was “Polish boat thieves that she caught red handed.” Or a
“deranged moose.” Or “the Russian mafia getting their own back for a fishing deal that
had gone wrong and managed to kill the wrong woman.”

INGEMAR

[ played sheriff and went around the locality asking questions: “Have you heard
anything?” “Have you seen anything that might have to do with what happened?” I did
some digging here and there and took the dog out in the hope that he would remember
something. | was really desperate at that stage. [ was still a suspect, even from the time
the suspicion was dropped because there was no other solution. I was getting odd looks
on the golf course and in the shops: “Dear oh dear, he’s down buying a new lawn mower
because he wants to hide the old one.” According to my friends, there were rumours
going around that [ had been seen buying a new lawn mower, and they were like: “Oh,
we’d better watch out now!” I was not a local, I was from Stockholm. I was interested in
tourism and the development of the area, but that wasn’t enough.

NARRATOR
During the winter and spring of 2009, forensic technician Johan Bruun in Kalmar is
going through the lab results. One of which would prove vital.

JOHAN BRUUN

We knew that Agneta had taken the puppy, Yocke, with her. We found hair samples in a
few unusual places, including one that we can see in this photo - in her eye. But we
assumed that it came for the dog.

NARRATOR
But the rib of hair found on Agneta isn’t Yocke’s. It comes from another animal.

JOHAN BRUUN
The hair comes from a member of the deer family.

NARRATOR
A subsequent analysis was more precise.

JOHAN BRUUN

The hair came from a moose. We started thinking along those lines: Could it have been a
moose?
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BERATTARE

De analyserar blodflackarna pa den bat som lag uppdragen pa land bredvid Agneta.
Stanket visar att hon maste ha dott pad platsen vid sjon och inte fraktats dit som polisen
forst trott. Plotsligt finns en brottsplats.

Mummel,
klick pa dator

JOHAN BRUUN
Dar har vi den. Och dar har vi fall och dar har vi videofilmen dar ja.

BERATTARE
Johan Bruun gor en enkel sokning pa “dlgattack” pa internet.

Ljud frdn en dator

JOHAN BRUUN
Det har var en film som vi hittade pa YouTube om en person som blir attackerad av en
alg.

SPEAKER
... 1 sin jakt pd foda. Som den hdr dlgkon och hennes kalv. Det ni nu fdr se i denna hemvideo
liknar ett medvetet anfall.

JOHAN BRUUN

Det ar alltsd en dlgko som slar ner, jag tror det dr en kvinna, och trampar pa henne vid
ett flertal tillfallen. Och slar mycket med bdde framben och bakben mot den har
personen som ligger pd marken och forsoker skydda sig. Sen ser vi da dlgarna ga ivag i
slutet och har kommer en kommentar ...

SPEAKER
Det hdr var inte alls ndgot slumpartat vredesutbrott. Algkon hade pldgats i timmar av
snébollskastande skolelever.

Klick

JOHAN BRUUN
Men har vacktes ju da idén pa att det kunde rora sig om en adlg. Och da ar ju fragan har,
hur gar man vidare?

Musik

BERATTARE

Algexperter kopplas in. De konstaterar att de tvd halen pa éverarmen troligen ir frn en
algtjur vars horn ofta ar lite rundade. Det var i september Agneta dog, dlgarnas
parningstid. Men. En avgorande pusselbit saknas.
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NARRATOR

Blood samples from a boat that was dragged up on land close to where Agneta was
found were analysed. The blood splashes show that she died where she was found. She
hadn’t been moved there, as the police first thought. Suddenly, there is a crime scene.

Murmuring
Computer clicks

JOHAN BRUUN
There we are. We’ve got cases there and videos there...

NARRATOR
Johan Bruun did a simple search for “moose attack” on the Internet.

Computer noises

JOHAN BRUUN
We found a film on YouTube showing a person being attacked by a moose.

SPEAKER
... In search of food, like this moose cow and her calf. What you see in this
home video looks like an intentional attack...

JOHAN BRUUN

We can see a moose cow knocking down... | think it's a woman, and stamping on her
several times. The moose is using both the back and front legs while the person on the
ground tries to shield herself. Then at the end we see the moose running away and here
comes the commentary...

SPEAKER
... This was not a random attack. The moose cow had been tormented for hours by children
throwing snowballs...

Click

JOHAN BRUUN
This gave us reason to believe that it could have been a moose. And the question is;
where do we go from here?

Music

NARRATOR

Moose experts are consulted. They conclude that the two holes in Agneta’s upper arm
are the tracks of moose antlers, a male moose whose antlers are often a little rounder.
And Agneta was killed in September during the moose mating season. But. One vital
piece of the puzzle is missing.
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JOHAN BRUUN
De som har sett de har dlgarna attackera folk sa har, de tuggar mer eller mindre fradga.
Det stinker saliv om dem. Och det maste finnas saliv pa hennes klader.

BERATTARE

Pa Agnetas jacka hittade kriminalteknikerna tre flackar och nar Johan Bruun i samband
med dodsfallet skickar in jackan pa analys stéller han fragan om flackarna ar fran
Ingemar. Svaret ar nej. Flackarna forblir en gata. Mer an ett ar senare skickar han in
jacka pa nytt. Den har gangen med fragan: Finns det spar av dlg pa Agnetas jacka?

JOHAN BRUUN

Och jag kommer sa val ihdg nar Ann Jangblad uppe pa SKL ringer ner till mig. Nar hon
sager Johan, och sen sa kommer det har: De har flickarna vi har skickat upp. De
flackarna ar de sa mycket DNA sd det ar tio gadnger mer DNA dn det brukar finnas pa ett
filterpapper pa en cigarett. Sa det ar fruktansvart stora mangder av algsaliv sdger hon pa
de har. Och dar nanstans, da har vi fatt alla pusselbitar att ramla pa plats.

Piano

INGEMAR

Polischefen da i Vastervik ringer och sager att vi vet vad det dr som har hant. Och da
sdger jag att jag vill inte hora det nu och jag vill inte hora det ensam utan jag vill att du
kommer upp till Nacka och beréattar for mig och mina barn vad det ar som har hant sa vi
far hora det tillsammans.

Och dar berattade hon da att man var 6vertygade om att det var en dlg som hade sparkat
sonder Agneta. Och en av mina forsta fragor var ju d3, ful, men jag kdnde att jag maste
stédlla den: Det dr inte pa sa satt att ni nu anvander det har for att komma ifran det har
fallet. Nu har ni 16st det har, hurra hurra, vad duktiga vi ar? Men sa var det inte sa hon.
Och pa fragan om varfér man inte upptackte dlgspar pa jackan vid forsta
undersokningen, redan forsta veckan da obducenten var dar, sa hon att vi stéllde inte
den fragan och darfor fick vi inte svar pa det. Utan man var ute efter blod eller nanting
ifran mig som kunde pavisa att jag hade gjort nanting.

Piano
POLIS
Vi har kallat till presskonferens idag.

BERATTARE
Den 1 dec 2009 haller polisen i Vastervik en presskonferens.
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JOHAN BRUUN
Those who have seen a moose attack people in this way have observed the animal
frothing at the mouth. They stink of saliva, so there must be saliva on her clothes.

NARRATOR

Forensic technicians had found three stains on Agneta’s jacket. After her death, Johan
Bruun sent Agneta’s jacket to the forensic laboratory requesting them to look for
Ingemar’s DNA. The test was negative. The stains would remain a mystery. More than a
year later, he sent the jacket in again. This time with a new request: “Are there traces of
moose DNA on Agneta’s jacket?”

JOHAN BRUUN

[ remember very well the moment Ann Jangblad up at Forensics called me... when she
said: “Johan!” And then: “The stains that you wanted analysed... there’s so much DNA
here. There’s 10 times more than what you find on a cigarette filter. There are enormous
amounts of moose saliva.” And there it was - the last piece of the puzzle.

Piano

INGEMAR

The chief of police in Vastervik called me up and said that they knew what had
happened. I said: “I don’t want to hear this now. [ don’t want to hear this alone. [ want
you to come up to Nacka and tell me what happened in the presence of my children.”

She told me that they were convinced that a moose had stamped Agneta to death. My
first response was, nasty [ admit, but I had to say it: “Could it be that you’re looking for
an easy way out of this? Hurrah, hurrah, we’ve solved it. Aren’t we clever?” “No, that is
not the case”, she said. When [ asked her why they didn’t detect moose DNA when they
sent it to the lab the first time, she replied: “Because we hadn’t asked them to look for it.
We were looking for your DNA which could prove that you had something to do with it.”

Piano
POLICEMAN
We’re holding a press conference today.

NARRATOR
On December 1st 2009, the police in Vastervik hold a press conference.

37



ALGEXPERT

Och det har var i samband med brunsten, alltsa ndgra veckor fore dlgens parningstid. Vi
vet ocksa att dlgen ofta gor utfall som inte fullf6ljs men vi vet att det ar kritiskt att man
inte ramlar om man blir utsatt for de har utfallen. Det som var férsvarande i det har
fallet var att det fanns en ung hund som ocksa mer eller mindre kan ha provocerat dlgen
att fortsatta med det har utfallet.

BERATTARE

Den samlade bedomningen ar att dlgen blivit provocerad av hundvalpen Yocke och
attackerat. Nar Yocke soker skydd hos Agneta stangar dlgen henne, hon ramlar och dlgen
borjar sparka.

Bandspelare
Brus

BERATTARE

Att det fanns alg vid Agnetas dodsplats visste polisen. Samma kvall som hon dér hittar
de algspillning och klovvilt vid strandkanten. Hundforarna stotte dlg och uppe pa garden
irrade en algko runt. Och redan i det forsta forhoret med Ingemar pa polisstationen
berattar han om ett ljud han hérde strax innan han hittade Agneta. Ett ljud han ska
aterkomma till i brev pa brev.

INGEMAR

Ungefar 100 meter innan jag ser Agneta sa hor jag ett vildsamt liv nere i vassen. Ett
plask eller om det var tva dlgar som hoppade i. Det var ett valdigt liv, ett ordentligt liv. Sa
jag slog av cykeln och lyssnade. Det var ett ordentligt liv. Antingen sa rodde man som
tusan eller ocksa kan det ha varit dlgar det vet inte jag men det lat valdsamt.

Musik

BERATTARE

Jag har pratat med forhorsledaren och han sager att de gick vilse redan fran borjan i
utredningen. Han har dessutom skrivit ett brev till Ingemar pa nio sidor dar han gar
igenom alla misstag. De laste sig till Ingemar allt for lange. Strategin var att lamna
honom ensam, att inte halla kontakten, och hoppas pa att han skulle avsloja sig 6ver den
avlyssnade mobilen.

Fdgelkvitter
sus frdn skogen
[ Loftahammar tas nyheten om dlgen emot med stor skepsis. Vasterviks-Tidningen gor

en enkat pad stan med sju personer. Samtliga avfardar polisens slutsats. En person sager:
"Mordet ar och forblir en gata.”

38



MOOSE EXPERT

This attack took place during the mating season, that is to say a few weeks before the
moose mate. We also know that moose attacks often end as quickly as they begin and it’s
vital not to fall during such an attack. A complicating factor in this case was the presence
of a young dog that may have provoked the moose, thereby causing a prolonged attack.

NARRATOR

The overall assessment is that the moose was provoked by the puppy, Yocke, thus
inducing the attack. When Yocke ran to Agneta for protection, the moose butts her. She
falls and the moose proceeds to stamp on her.

Tape recorder
Noise

NARRATOR

The police were aware of the presence of a moose at the scene. That same evening, they
find moose droppings and hoof tracks by the lake shore. Tracking dogs pick up a scent
and a moose cow is seen wandering around up at the farm. As early as the first
interrogation session at the police station, Ingemar tells them about a sound he heard
just before he found Agneta - a sound that he keeps referring to in letter after letter.

INGEMAR

About 100 metres before I find Agneta, I hear an awful commotion in the reeds. It
sounded like a moose or two jumping into the lake. There was quite a commotion. I
switched off the quad bike and listened. There was such a commotion. It could have been
a boat being rowed with great force or a moose. [ don’t know, but it sounded powerful.

Music

NARRATOR

['ve spoken with the interrogation officer and he said that the investigation took the
wrong direction right from the start. He wrote nine pages of a letter to Ingemar
explaining all the mistakes that they made. The focus was on Ingemar for far too long.
Their strategy was to leave him alone, without any contact, in the hope that he would
give himself away on his mobile phone which was tapped.

Bird song

Forest noises

NARRATOR

In Loftahammar, the news about the moose is received with great scepticism. The local
newspaper, Vasterviks-Tidningen, carry out a survey involving 7 people, all of whom

reject what the police have concluded. One person says: “The murder is and will remain
a mystery.”
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Dorr éppnas
Det har gatt ndstan fyra ar sedan Agneta dog.
Vindspel

HUGO
Har ni kdnt er otrygga nu efter?

GUNILLA
Mm, jag har gjort det. Tyvarr. Och det kdnns svart att siga men det har jag kant.

TOIVO
Kanner du sa ska du ...

GUNILLA
Ja.

TOIVO
Det dr ju inte mer med det ...

GUNILLA
Nej.

TOIVO
... det dr ju olika hur man reagerar.

GUNILLA
Jag gick ju inte ens .. tog en promenad ner till sjon sjalv. Tankte nej. Jag var pa vig men
vande. Nej jag gar hem, det gar inte, jag fixar inte det.

TOIVO
Nej.

HUGO
Men hur reagerar ni nar det kom fram att det var en alg?

TOIVO
Ja...

GUNILLA
Jaha, ungefar. Var det sa enkelt? Ursiakta men...
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Door opening

NARRATOR
Almost four years have passed since Agneta died.

Chimes

HUGO
Have you felt unsafe now after...?

GUNILLA
Mm, yes [ have, unfortunately. I don’t like saying it, but that’s how I feel.

TOIVO
If you feel that way then you should...

GUNILLA
Yes.

TOIVO
There’s no more to it...

GUNILLA
No.

TOIVO
We all react differently.

GUNILLA
[ didn’t even take a walk down to the lake alone. I thought: “No”. [ was on my way once,
but I turned back: “No, I'm going home. [ can’t do this.”

TOIVO
No.

HUGO
But how did you react when they said that it was a moose?

TOIVO
Well...

GUNILLA
“Really?” That's how I reacted. Was it that simple? I'm sorry, but...
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TOIVO

Sen var det ju det har med Ingemar han hade ju, nar han slapptes kom han kérandes
med fyrhjulingen har. Jag stod pa balkongen. Tror du att jag ar mordare, sa han. Ja, sa jag.
Och sa bara dkte han ivag. Jag menar, det ar ju, det ar ju... a, jag vet inte.

GUNILLA ]

ag fick ocksa en san fraga vid tillfalle av honom och jag vet inte hur det var men... da sa
jag sd har: Jag sager som polisen har sagt. Att det ar gjort av ndgon. Jaha, sa han, nar har
de sagt det? Ja hela tiden sa jag och sen bara...

BERATTARE
Ndgra dagar efter polisen gatt ut med att det var en alg har ndgon tagit sig in pa Ingmars
tomt och placerat ut en halsning. En alg av plat.

INGEMAR

[ samband med att... presskonferens i Vastervik dd man sa att det en dlg. Och nagra
dagar senare sa star det en dlg pa garden i Mistekarr. I naturlig storlek. En platalg. Har
finns det folk som inte tycker om mig, som inte tror pa att jag ar oskyldig. Har kan jag
inte bo. Och da bestdmde jag mig for att flytta dar ifran.

Fdgelkvitter,
barnroster

INGEMAR
Var ska du sitta?

BARN 1
Dir.

INGEMAR
Har eller langst bak?

BARN 1
Dér.

INGEMAR
Vad bra.

BERATTARE
Idag bor Ingemar i Nacka.
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TOIVO

Then there was this thing with Ingemar, he had... When he was released he drove by
here on his quad bike. | was standing on the balcony: “Do you think that I'm a
murderer?”, he said. I said: “Yes”. Then he drove off. I mean, that was, that was... Oh, |
don’t know.

GUNILLA

He asked me the same question at some stage. [ don’t know how it came about but... |
said to him: “I'm saying what the police have said all along: That someone did it.” He
said: “Really, and when did they say that?” [ said: “All along”, and then he just...

NARRATOR
A few days after the police announced that it was a moose, someone went to Ingemar’s
garden and left a “greeting”: A moose of metal.

INGEMAR

In conjunction with... the press conference in Vastervik when they said that it was a
moose... A few days later there was a moose in the garden in Mistekarr. A life-size metal
moose. There are people in the locality that have no regard for me, that don’t believe I'm
innocent. | couldn’t stay there, and so [ decided to move.

Bird song
Children’s voices

INGEMAR
Where do you want to sit?

CHILD 1
There.

INGEMAR
Here or in the back?

CHILD 1
There.

INGEMAR
Great.

NARRATOR
Nowadays, Ingemar lives in Nacka.
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BARN 2
Hur far man in Yocke i bilen?

INGEMAR
Bra. Man far lyfta honom!

BERATTARE
En dag i veckan hdmtar han barnbarnen pa dagis.

BARN 2
N4, det gick bra sa.

INGEMAR
Aa, det ar bra!

BERATTARE
Hunden Yocke ar idag fem ar.

INGEMAR
Alla klara?

BARNEN
Ja.

INGEMAR
Da kan vi fara

Dorr stangs

BARN 3
Alltsa han ar jattebra pa att rimma. Han kan rimma pa citron!

INGEMAR
Ja vad var det vi sa?

BARN 3
Du sa: Kungen sitter pa sin tron och ater citron.

INGEMAR
Ja... Det var det enda jag kom pa. Vad hade du mera?
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CHILD 2
How do I get Yocke into the car?

INGEMAR
You'll have to lift him.

NARRATOR
He picks up his grandchildren from day-care once a week.

CHILD 2
There we are!

INGEMAR
Well done!

NARRATOR
Yocke the dog is five years old now.

INGEMAR
Are we good to go?

CHILDREN
Yes.

INGEMAR
Let’s start the show!

Doors closing

CHILD 3
He’s brilliant at rhymes. He can rhyme to lemon!

INGEMAR
Yes, what was it again?

CHILD 3
You said: “The king would give all heaven for a lemon.”

INGEMAR
That was all I could come up with. Was there another one?
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BARN 1
Lampa.

INGEMAR
Lampa? Det var lattare. Det var trampa, slampa och svampa och klampa och...

Bilen startas

BARN 3
Sar, rimma pa sar!

INGEMAR
Sar? Det ar ju jattelatt det...

Ljudet tonas ut

HUGO
Har du kant dig arg?

TERESA

Ja, jag minns ett tillfille da jag liksom inte kunde halla mig. Man pratar med den dar
jakla... polisen. I efterhand sa kan man liksom inte anklaga nan person for de var liksom
mesar allihopa. Det ar sa daligt sd att man blir bara trott och nanstans spelar det ingen
roll for min mamma ar borta. Sa det r ocksa det, men da var det ju valdigt mycket fokus
pa pappa. Hans upprattelse. De hade inte bara... for mig var det... de hade tagit... det
kdndes ndstan som det var de som hade tagit bort min mamma fran mig. Nastan. Och sen
sa ska de ta min pappa ocksa. Och det var ju egentligen vad de gjorde. For att han liksom
sedan dess aldrig kommer att bli sig sjdlv igen. Sa... Da ringde jag och pratade med hon
som dr ansvarig pa polisen, for da fick jag hora att pappa hade suttit... att de hade satt
toppluvor pa hans fotter for de hade inga strumpor i hdktet. Och det ar fan skit. Nej... Da
blev jag sa fruktansvart, da skrek jag at henne. Vad fan har ni gjort med min pappa?
skrek jag. For det tyckte jag var sd javla javligt. Att de inte kan ens. Att de tar sa
fruktansvart illa om de sitter dar som inte har gjort ndgot, och dven om de har gjort
nagot liksom, visst. Men han har precis blivit av med sin livskamrat. Och da... Nej det
tycker jag, det ar konstigt. Eller det ar inte konstigt. Det ar bara helt sjukt. Sa man forstar
ju att han kanner sig otroligt fornedrad.

Fdgelsdng

INGEMAR

Det blev ju s3, jag sdlde inte huset forrdn tva ar senare for det var sa mycket att plocka i
ordning. Och klockan sex da pa den lérdagen jag var dar sd spelade jag, sa ringde jag i
vallingklockan och sd spelade jag... Nils Landgrens latar. Och det var, det var som att jag
sande vita duvor och blommor upp till Agneta. Och jag sag att hon satt dar pa altanen
med sina kantareller och vinet och cigaretterna och dagskassan och madde valdigt bra.
Det dr ett gott minne att ha.

Trombonsolo.
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CHILD 1
Lamp.

INGEMAR
Lamp? That’s easier. Tramp, clamp, damp, camp and...

Car starting

CHILD 3
Wound, rhyme to wound!

INGEMAR
Wound? Oh, that’s easy...

Car sound fades

HUGO
Have you felt anger?

TERESA

Yes. I remember on one particular occasion when I just couldn’t stop myself. Talking to
that bloody... policeman. In retrospect, I know I can’t blame one particular person
because they were all a bunch of wimps. The whole thing is just dreadful and somehow
it doesn’t matter because my mum is dead. But at that time we had to concentrate on
dad. His restitution. They hadn’t just... as | saw it, it almost felt like they had taken my
mum from me. Almost. And then they were taking my dad as well. And that’s what they
actually did, because he will never be the same again. So... I called the police station and
spoke with the woman who was in charge. [ had heard that in custody they had given
him knit caps for his feet because they were out of socks. That’s so awful... | was
extremely angry and [ screamed at her: “What the hell have you done to my dad?” I
thought that it was terrible. That they couldn’t even... That they treat the ones sitting
there so bad... Being locked up for something you didn’t do, and even if you did... He had
just lost his lifelong partner. And then... I think it’s strange. No, it's not strange. It’s
totally sick. You can imagine how humiliating this has been for him.

Bird song

INGEMAR

As it happened, I didn't sell the house until two years later because there was so much
stuff to sort out. And on that Saturday at six o’clock I rang the farmyard bell and played
Nils Landgren tunes. And it was... it was as if | sent white doves and flowers up to
Agneta. I could see her sitting there on the terrace, in her glory, with the chanterelle, a
glass of wine, her cigarettes and the proceeds from the garage sale. It’s a pleasant
memory to carry with me.

Trombone solo.
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